





# ARM@DA: A REALIST INQUIRY INTO MATERNITY CARE @ A DISTANCE

# **RESEARCH PROTOCOL v.1**

# **Table of Contents**

VERSION CONTROL TABLE	3
FUNDING ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND DISCLAIMER	3
SUMMARY OF RESEARCH	4
BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE	5
Operational Definitions	6
Why is this Research Needed Now?	7
Meeting the Needs of a Digital Society and Digital NHS	7
Ensuring Equity within DC-CON Roll Out	7
Existing Evidence on DC-CON in Maternity Care	8
DC-CON Implementation Research	8
Inequalities in the DC-CON Evidence Base	9
Evidence Gap and Conceptual Framework: DC-CON as a Complex Intervention	10
AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	11
Research Question	11
Research Objectives	11
RESEARCH PLAN	
Overall Approach	
Study Design	
METHODS	
PPI	
Stakeholder Involvement	15
Key Informant Interviews	
Overarching Approach to Literature Searching	
Review Phases	
Phase 1: Refining the Review Scope and Developing Initial Programme Theories	17
Phase 2: Evidence Retrieval, Review and Synthesis	
Phase 3: Test and Refine Programme Theories (Validation)	21
Phase 4: Development of Actionable Recommendations	
Ensuring Timeliness, Currency and Relevance of The Review	
DISSEMINATION, OUTPUTS AND ANTICIPATED IMPACT	23
ETHICS APPROVALS	24
PROJECT MANAGEMENT	24
Supporting a Positive and Inclusive Team Culture	
PROJECT/RESEARCH EXPERTISE AND CONTRIBUTIONS	
PROJECT/RESEARCH TIMETABLE	27
SUCCESS CRITERIA AND BARRIERS TO PROPOSED WORK	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX 1: PROJECT FLOWCHART	

## **VERSION CONTROL TABLE**

## ARM@DA: A Realist Inquiry into Maternity Care @ a DistAnce

Version	Comments
V1	As submitted and approved by the NIHR HS&DR funding panel
	Pending ethical review from the University of Nottingham Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Ethics Committee

## FUNDING ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND DISCLAIMER

This study/project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) [HS&DR programme, grant number 134535]. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

## SUMMARY OF RESEARCH

### ARM@DA: A Realist Inquiry into Maternity Care @ a DistAnce

#### Background

The Maternity Transformation Programme in England aims to create safer, kinder, more personalised and family friendly care. A core work stream is 'harnessing digital technology'. The Covid-19 pandemic has radically altered and dramatically accelerated the context for this digital policy imperative. One of the most commonly reported Covid-related changes to all maternity services has been an increase in the use of remote/virtual consultations using telephone or video-calling. This shift was primarily implemented to support pandemic response objectives such as social distancing and service demand management. Going forward however, a key service challenge lies in how to 're-purpose' the use of digital clinical consultations to meet longer term quality, equity and productivity objectives. National guidance has been developed quickly to guide professional practice, but there has not, to date, been a comprehensive review of the evidence base to inform future service developments or research in this area of maternity care. Hence, although remote consultations may now be widespread, the ways in which they can be optimally scaled up and utilised in future along the maternity care pathway is unclear. This proposed project seeks to fill these gaps through an in-depth and theory-informed investigation of the evidence around implementation of digital clinical consultations.

#### **Research Aim**

To identify mechanisms to explain how digital consultations can work to support safe, personalised and appropriate maternity care and to clarify when they might be most appropriately used, for whom, when, and in what contexts.

#### **Research Design and Methods**

A realist synthesis will be conducted over an 18-month period in 4 highly iterative phases: (i) refining the review focus and generating initial programme theories, (ii) exploring and developing the programme theories in light of evidence, (iii) testing/refining the programme theories, and, (iv) constructing actionable recommendations in ways that can be rapidly adopted into practice and clearly define a future research agenda. The review will draw upon three sources of evidence: (i) literature (published and unpublished research, audit, evaluation and theory), (ii) stakeholder expertise and insights, and (iii) (limited) key informant interviews. The review will be registered on Prospero and will follow the RAMESES (Realist and Meta-narrative Evidence Synthesis Evolving Standards) quality procedures and will comply with RAMESES reporting guidance.

#### **Research Team**

The project includes extensive PPI at every stage. It includes a highly experienced multiprofessional and multi-disciplinary team of academics, information scientists, service users and expert clinicians. This group will work closely alongside two expert stakeholder groups (NHS staff and community organisations/service users) designed to reflect a wide diversity of experience.

#### **Dissemination and Impact**

The review findings will be disseminated in formats relevant to different audiences, augmented and signposted through social media, including reports/publications, webinars, best practice infographics and implementation toolkits and an online education resource. The review output will be a theoretically-grounded explanatory framework for safe, appropriate and acceptable digital consultations in maternity care that can be used by NHS stakeholders to guide future service development, policy, practice and research.

## **BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE**

This proposal is for a realist review to generate a theory- and evidence-informed framework to guide best practice in the implementation of digital clinical consultations in maternity care in the NHS. The project adopts an inclusive collaborative approach, involving diverse and extensive PPI and stakeholder engagement at every stage.

Maternity care in England is undergoing a substantive transformation programme whose overall aim is to support services to work across professional and service boundaries to become safer, kinder, more personalised, and more family-friendly.<sup>1-3</sup> A core work stream is 'harnessing digital technology'.<sup>4, 5</sup> The Covid-19 pandemic has radically altered and dramatically accelerated the context of this digital policy imperative.<sup>6-9</sup>

The 'Better Births' report highlighted that women are "savvy consumers" of online information and require digital information to empower them in their decision-making and help them feel more confident to discuss their care and ask for help during interactions with their care providers.<sup>1</sup> Women require trustworthy, clear, evidence-based and unbiased information to help them make decisions. Such information needs to be personalised, accessible and include locally relevant information. Digital interactions and information are being used to support and complement clinical consultations in maternity care. Text messaging and social media have been reported to disseminate health messages and answer non-urgent questions,<sup>10</sup> improve attendance at clinic appointments,<sup>11</sup> provide information and coaching to enhance postnatal care,<sup>12</sup> support antenatal smoking cessation<sup>13</sup> and weight management interventions.<sup>14</sup> Remote blood pressure and blood glucose self-monitoring and diabetes care has been widely implemented during the Covid-19 pandemic with published clinical guidance for implementation to support virtual clinics.<sup>15</sup> Many NHS trusts are providing or signposting women to remote support for breastfeeding, mental health and early parenting advice.<sup>16</sup>

One of the most commonly reported Covid-related changes to all forms of service provision in maternity care has been an increase in the use of remote/virtual consultations using telephone or video.<sup>4, 7, 16, 17</sup> For example, one recent survey of all 194 obstetric units in the country (42% response rate) found that 89% reported using digitally delivered consultation methods in antenatal care and 56.8% for postnatal care.<sup>7</sup> For antenatal services, the majority of these (87.7%) were conducted via the telephone whereas a smaller percentage were conducted using everyday video technology or specialist video technology (12% and 25.9% respectively). A national online survey of 524 women reported that 51.8% had experienced telephone or video consultations.<sup>18</sup> This trend towards digital consultation is likely to continue in the short term as an immediate response to Covid-19, but will also continue in the longer term as part of the existing digital strategy.<sup>9, 19, 20</sup>

As noted in a recent Health Foundation report,<sup>21</sup> the rapid shift to remote or digitally delivered clinical consultations was primarily implemented to support pandemic response objectives such as social distancing and service demand management. Going forward however, a key challenge for the NHS lies in how to 're-purpose' the use of remote consultations to serve longer term quality, equity and productivity objectives. Within maternity care, consultations have a wide range of potential purposes depending upon the individual circumstances and characteristics of the service user, clinical categorisation of the pregnancy (e.g. high risk or low risk) and stage of the maternity care pathway (e.g. antenatal care, assessment of early labour, postnatal care). Consultations may involve clinical (physical and mental health) assessment, safeguarding assessments, health promotion, information giving, education or therapeutic support. The interactions need to be

organised and implemented within multi-professional care pathways that promote continuity, personalisation and choice, recognise diversity and ensure safety.<sup>9</sup> Likewise, consultations need to be supported by auditable records that can be accessed by, and strengthen communications between, different providers and settings.

In maternity care, the rapid shift to remote consultations (due to Covid-19) has involved pragmatic changes to protocols and service patterns with relatively little understanding of which aspects of a consultation may, or may not, be most impacted by the change to a digitally-facilitated modality.<sup>6</sup> National guidance has been developed quickly to guide professional practice,<sup>16, 17</sup> but there has not, to date, been a comprehensive review of the evidence base to inform future service developments or future research in this area of maternity care.<sup>6</sup> Hence, although remote consultations may now be widespread in maternity services, the ways in which they can optimally be utilised in future along the care pathway remains unclear. This proposed project seeks to fill this gap through an in-depth and theory informed investigation of the evidence around implementation of digital clinical consultations. In doing so, it seeks to illuminate how digital consultations can work to support safe, personalised and appropriate maternity care and to clarify when they might be most appropriately used, for whom, when, and in what contexts.

# **Operational Definitions**

Digitally-facilitated clinical communication has a highly diverse nomenclature, including terms such as telehealth, telemedicine, mobile health, e-health, virtual consultation, video consultations, digital consultation, remotely delivered care and online consultations (amongst many others). In spite of efforts by WHO in 2017 to standardise concepts and terminology, there is no internationally agreed or consistent set of terms, meanings or definitions.<sup>22</sup> A similar diversity is found in the rapidly evolving technologies and systems used to implement digitally-facilitated consultations. Key distinctions are that digital technologies can be utilised for: (i) direct 'live' clinical communication/consultation between a service user and a practitioner (synchronous), or (ii) direct communication that may happen at different time points (asynchronous), such as text messaging. This is in contrast to other digital care modalities such as remote monitoring systems (e.g. remote blood pressure monitoring), on-line triage algorithms, the use of Apps, wearable personal devices or electronic medical records which are usually asynchronous and do not involve direct interpersonal patient/practitioner communication (although these may be utilised to trigger, or to directly inform, consultations).

The focus of this project is on maternity care **consultations** that are facilitated through, and/or complemented by, digital technology. To capture this focus, we will use the term 'Digital Clinical Consultation' – henceforth referred to as 'DC-CON' (this term is an adaptation of the term 'Digital Clinical Communication' – DCC - utilised by a research team investigating a wider range of digital communication modalities between young people with chronic conditions and their healthcare providers).<sup>23</sup> The working definition for our project is outlined in Table 1 as follows:

## Table 1: Operational Definition

**Digital Clinical Consultation (DC-CON)** – Synchronous telephone or video consultations involving direct interaction between a service user and a maternity healthcare professional. It has two-way functionality and can be initiated by either party. It may be linked to, or complemented by, other digital technologies within the maternity care pathways.

This definition recognises that the focus is on the consultation itself, but that this might be linked to, or informed by, other digital technologies. We have chosen to utilise the term DC-CON rather than

the term 'remote consulting' as used in several other research initiatives,<sup>24</sup> to avoid the potential impersonal connotations of the term 'remote'.

This project will investigate digital consultations across the maternity pathway, i.e. during pregnancy, the intrapartum period and early postnatal care (up to 10-14 days post-partum).

## Why is this Research Needed Now?

### Meeting the Needs of a Digital Society and Digital NHS

According to the Office of National Statistics, 96% of households in the UK have access to the internet and 84% of adults own a Smartphone – increasing to 98% in the 18-24 age group.<sup>25</sup> As part of this trend, women are increasingly, and routinely, using digital technology and digital resources as an adjunct to their maternity care.<sup>1</sup> For example, a recent survey of 632 pregnant women in the UK found that women used 91 different digital resources; 97% used a Smartphone and only 0.5% reported no access to digital devices.<sup>26</sup> Alongside the imperatives to improve service quality and efficiency in maternity care,<sup>2</sup> it is likely that women will increasingly want and expect aspects of their care to be delivered through mobile digital technology.<sup>1</sup>

As part of the NHS Maternity Digital Transformation Programme, a 2018 national 'Digital Maturity Assessment' report found highly variable levels of digital maturity within maternity services across the country.<sup>5</sup> At the time, the report highlighted that the development of 'remote and assistive care' was still in its infancy, but was an aspirational area likely to see rapid growth and increasing demand from service users. The report found that 23% of all maternity services provided some form of remote/virtual service for women deemed to be at low risk. These services included telephone triage/helplines, telehealth and SKYPE consultations, text messaging (one- or two- way communication), email, social media, virtual tours of the maternity unit and electronic self-referrals. The report acknowledged that it is currently unclear which aspects of care are most appropriately delivered using digital technologies and specifically what role digitally delivered consultations might play.<sup>5, 27</sup> It concluded that evidence is urgently needed to inform further development in this area.<sup>20</sup>

## Ensuring Equity within DC-CON Roll Out

The implementation of DC-CON needs to take account of a key priority for UK maternity services – namely how to address significant ongoing disparities in service access and clinical outcomes.<sup>9</sup> These concerns relate particularly to women from minority ethnic communities<sup>28, 29</sup> and women with complex social needs.<sup>8, 30</sup> Concerns regarding women from ethnic minority backgrounds have been amplified and made even more visible during the Covid-19 pandemic where figures show that a disproportionate number of pregnant women admitted to hospital with Covid-19 identify with an ethnic minority background.<sup>31</sup> The extent to which this extends to DC-CON-related service changes is currently unknown.<sup>9</sup>

In addition, it is well known that women with other vulnerabilities (some of which intersect with ethnicity/race) are also likely to experience poorer outcomes and challenges in accessing and engaging with care.<sup>30, 32</sup> A recent review suggests that this group includes women who are socially isolated, living in poverty/homeless, refugees/asylum seekers, non-native language speakers, victims of abuse, sex workers, young mothers, single mothers and women from the travelling community.<sup>30</sup> More complex, often multi-agency, input is also often required for women where there are safeguarding concerns, substance and/or alcohol abuse, physical or learning disability, female genital mutilation, HIV positive status and those with perinatal mental health issues.

An important issue for the roll out of DC-CON in maternity care therefore is to explore how best to achieve this in a way can improve, but at the very least does not worsen, existing inequalities.<sup>21</sup> In addition, it is essential that further digital innovations must be able to support the escalation of concerns, not impede multi-disciplinary working and fit within governance systems.<sup>33</sup> It is essential therefore that efforts to inform future DC-CON developments are guided by evidence that takes cognisance of the need to address inequalities.<sup>9</sup>

# Existing Evidence on DC-CON in Maternity Care

There is a large and rapidly expanding literature associated with DC-CON in maternity care.<sup>19</sup> For simplicity, we conceptualise the purpose of DC-CON in two ways (while recognising significant overlap between the two). The first relates to DC-CON that is additional to usual care – where specialist support is required on a single issue where a specific need is identified (e.g. interventions to support perinatal mental health, breastfeeding or smoking cessation). There is now substantial evidence that such targeted interventions can be feasible, acceptable and effective to varying degrees, although these have still not been widely implemented in the NHS.<sup>19, 27, 34-38</sup>

The second DC-CON purpose relates to situations where DC-CON is already the main modality of care (e.g. in telephone helplines or triage for assessment of early labour).<sup>39</sup> It also refers to situations where standard care pathways are altered so that some in-person points of contact are replaced or supplemented DC-CON (as happened during the Covid-19 pandemic). DC-CON has been investigated with regard to antenatal care among both high<sup>40</sup> and low<sup>41, 42</sup> risk women. For example, a recent randomised control trial in the USA sought to compare standard in-person antenatal care with a new 'hybrid' system that included virtual consultations. This study found higher satisfaction with care, no difference in health outcomes and less anxiety in the hybrid care group.<sup>41</sup> A systematic review of telephone support for women in pregnancy and postpartum was less conclusive however, with results suggesting that telephone support may be associated with higher overall satisfaction with care while yielding uncertain impacts on clinical outcomes.<sup>36</sup>

## **DC-CON Implementation Research**

To date, most research on DC-CON modalities in maternity care has evaluated relatively smallscale, carefully planned and controlled initiatives.<sup>43, 44</sup> The Covid—19 pandemic has provided additional evidence about 'real world' implementation issues that need to be synthesised and better understood in order to drive forward this agenda.<sup>45</sup>

# Staff Perspectives

Policy guidance<sup>16</sup> and anecdotal reports from professionals and community based organisations have identified several concerns related to DC-CON as implemented during the Covid-19 pandemic,<sup>46-48</sup> including: (i) how to maintain privacy within a consultation when it takes place in shared accommodation, (ii) how to build rapport and encourage disclosure of concerns (including safeguarding issues) or anxiety when it is not possible to pick up on non-verbal cues, (iii) how to overcome language barriers for women for whom English is a second language, (iv) how to support breastfeeding when unable to 'see', and, (v) how to involve partners. However, benefits have also been articulated, including that DC-CON may be more convenient for some groups of women and may be particularly useful for situations where there are routine queries and non-complex issues.

These concerns and potential benefits are mirrored in prior research that has explored midwifery staff views about telephone triage and video calling.<sup>39, 49, 50</sup> These studies appear to suggest some perceived advantages of video calling over phone calls due to the ability to utilise non-verbal visual cues to build trust and foster communication. However, in one study, midwives expressed potential reluctance at 'being seen' during calls.<sup>50</sup> The studies also identify a perceived need for clear information governance and record keeping processes, technical support, staff training and clear systems for embedding DC-CON modalities within care protocols and organisational infrastructure.

In order to guide future developments in DC-CON, further work is clearly needed to understand how maternity professionals perceive, experience and utilise DC-CON, the mechanisms through which they feel DC-CON can be best deployed and the educational and training inputs required to support this.<sup>51</sup>

## Women's Experiences

To date, the limited evidence available on women's experiences of DC-CON in maternity care during the Covid-19 pandemic in the UK NHS paints a mixed picture. For example, in one survey of 1,451 women, 62% thought that virtual consultations in the antenatal care context felt 'impersonal'.<sup>52</sup> Further disaggregation of the experience revealed several other concerns: 62% said that this modality affected the type of information they disclosed to health workers; 14% noted a particular difficulty in talking about mental health issues; 11% felt embarrassed to discuss mental health or sensitive concerns and some participants worried that important information or risks might be missed - noting that the appointment did not feel detailed enough. The study presented less information with respect to postnatal care but noted that women reported feeling concerned about lack of support for breastfeeding and reduced contact with the midwife.

In another survey of 524 women,<sup>18</sup> with regard to digital antenatal care, only 12.9% felt that their needs had been met entirely, and 23.3% felt that their needs were not met at all. Key concerns were that care felt poorly organised, impersonal and too brief, leading to worries that important issues might be missed. The situation was similarly problematic with respect to virtual postnatal contacts, with 28.4% reporting that these had not met their needs at all. Interestingly, very few participants (only 4.2%) reported any technical or other issues related to the technology itself.

Although the above findings are concerning, it is clear that women's experiences are variable. Not everyone reports a negative experience. Interestingly, studies from the USA and globally report much higher levels of satisfaction with similar Covid-19-related DC-CON service changes, suggesting that satisfaction may be associated with wider organisational or contextual factors.<sup>40, 48, 53</sup> Hence, a challenge for DC-CON implementation going forward lies in understanding what works well and why? and for whom?

## Inequalities in the DC-CON Evidence Base

Much of the existing evidence around DC-CON in maternity settings comes from relatively homogenous samples that fail to represent the diversity found in real life.<sup>45</sup> This is exemplified in recent studies on women's experiences of maternity care during the Covid-19 pandemic.<sup>40, 53</sup> For example, in a UK national survey of women's experiences (n=1,451), 91.9% identified as White/White British and 80.8% had a degree or higher degree qualification. Likewise, in another survey of women (n=524),<sup>18</sup> only 4.2% of respondents were from ethnic minority communities. It is critical, therefore, that future work on DC-CON is fully inclusive, intentionally seeks out the perspectives of diverse, vulnerable or marginalised groups and considers how to tackle poorer outcomes.<sup>28</sup>

## Evidence Gap and Conceptual Framework: DC-CON as a Complex Intervention

Existing research on DC-CON in maternity care shows it can be safe and acceptable in controlled conditions<sup>27, 34, 35, 40, 42</sup>.<sup>11, 41</sup> Existing research also shows that experiences for staff and women vary widely.<sup>7, 39, 49, 52</sup> A gap remains however in understanding the conditions required for safe and acceptable DC-CON implementation and in understanding the factors that underpin variation in experience. Such variation is problematic, as it is implementation in real world contexts, at scale, that needs to be understood for the systems-wide transformation as envisaged in the NHS Maternity Transformation Programme.<sup>2, 20, 54</sup> It is this gap that the proposed project will address.

In order to develop a rigorous evidence base for DC-CON implementation in maternity care, we argue that DC-CON constitutes a complex intervention. Complex interventions draw upon implementation science theories<sup>55</sup> and are defined by the Medical Research Council as: "1) *including several interacting components; 2) sensitive to the context in which they are delivered; 3) having a causal chain linking the intervention to outcomes; 4) having a range of possible outcomes.*"<sup>56</sup> These criteria are applicable to DC-CON as they constitute a multiplicity of potential intervention modalities needing to be introduced into complex healthcare systems. Prior research suggests that DC-CON implementation and outcomes are mediated through 3 different but interlinked pathways:<sup>57</sup> (i) at the micro level (through individuals with varying skills sets, norms, resources and values), (ii) at the meso level (through organisations and organisational processes, including IT systems, leadership and resources), and, (iii) at the macro level (e.g. national policy imperatives to digitise systems and the wider socio-economic context).

A large body of implementation science literature demonstrates that adoption of technology-based solutions in healthcare is rarely straightforward, often results in failure and is best understood using (broadly) constructionist theoretical approaches (e.g. Actor-Network Theory<sup>58</sup> or Normalisation Process Theory<sup>59</sup>).<sup>60</sup> Several studies of DC-CON implementation in non-maternity clinical settings have drawn upon these and related theories.<sup>23, 57, 60, 61</sup> These studies show that DC-CON outcomes are strongly influenced by the nature of the relationship that can be established between provider and patient, the nature of the clinical issue, and the extent to which DC-CON 'fits' with, or changes, existing patient and professional norms, cultures, routines and processes.<sup>60, 62, 63</sup> Key findings include that: (i) DC-CON can be valued and utilised well for patients/situations that are 'suitable' (e.g. patients who are already known to a service and with whom a relationship already exists, and for patients with routine, straightforward or transactional queries), (ii) DC-CON is challenging for patients with complexities where elicitation, rapport and engagement is required, (iii) DC-CON frequently requires 'work-arounds' to fit the technology into existing IT systems, work patterns and protocols and does not necessarily lead to greater efficiency, (iv) DC-CON can have unanticipated consequences (e.g. becoming used as an additional adjunct to in-person care rather than replacing routine contacts, thereby increasing workload and cost), and, (v) DC-CON implementation requires strong organisational support and leadership.

An understanding of potential factors that may be critical for successful DC-CON implementation in maternity care can, therefore, be inferred from theories of implementation science and from implementation research in other clinical areas.<sup>60</sup> A key strength of a realist evidence synthesis, as proposed in this project, is that it is able to draw upon these additional sources (as well as evidence directly related to DC-CON in maternity care settings). This makes it a particularly suitable methodology to answer the research questions posed below. An initial logic model to guide the inquiry has been developed (see Figure 1).

## Figure 1 Initial Project Logic Model



## AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

## **Research Question**

How can digital clinical consultations be implemented in a clinically safe, appropriate and acceptable way in maternity care in the UK NHS? For whom? In what settings? And for what purposes?

## **Research Objectives**

- 1. To work collaboratively with key stakeholders to map, define and understand best practice in use of digital clinical consultation at different points of the maternity care pathway
- 2. To work collaboratively with key stakeholders to identify the mechanisms through which digitally delivered consultations can lead to safe, acceptable, high quality and personalised maternity care
- 3. To investigate how professional and organisational contexts mediate the impact of these mechanisms to promote or hinder safe, acceptable, personalised and high-quality delivery of digital clinical consultations in maternity care
- 4. To explore how the context of digital clinical consultations for different groups of women (e.g. ethnic minority groups, migrant women, women with psychological needs, women from socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds, women with neuro-diversity) may (or may not) impact on equity of access, service use and quality
- 5. To explore how digital information can best be used to complement, inform and support DC-CON
- Through a comprehensive, stakeholder-informed dissemination strategy, to provide policy and practice guidance on implementation of digital clinical consultation in maternity care in the UK NHS

## **RESEARCH PLAN**

## **Overall Approach**

We will address the research question by undertaking a realist synthesis in which PPI and diverse stakeholder participation is embedded at every stage.<sup>64</sup> Realist syntheses seek to investigate the relationships between what can be observed and experienced, human interpretation of this reality and 'unseen' underlying social structures.<sup>65-67</sup> Increasingly, realist approaches are applied in health research to investigate the complexity of health-related behaviour and to explore how behaviours are shaped by human agency via intersecting social structures that manifest differently in different contexts.<sup>68</sup> Realist approaches are particularly well suited to investigating complex interventions such as DC-CON. This is because realist inquiry seeks to establish causal relationships expressed as 'programme theories' - between intersecting intervention components, contexts and outcomes.<sup>69</sup> When applied to evidence synthesis, a realist approach focuses on understanding how particular interventions lead to particular outcomes under particular contexts (i.e. 'how does A lead to B?? and 'how might B be affected when A is implemented through contexts C, D or E'?).<sup>70</sup> This contrasts with the linear or deterministic approaches adopted by conventional systematic reviews which ask: 'does A lead to B'? (e.g. an effectiveness review) or: 'is A acceptable or meaningful to a particular group of individuals in a particular context'? (e.g. a qualitative review).<sup>64</sup>

As applied to our research question, the logic of a realist review proposes that different types of interventions (e.g. a video call or a phone call) supply particular resources into a situation that prompt diverse possible reactions and responses (also referred to as 'reasonings') from women and health professionals.<sup>71</sup> The interaction between the resource and the response constitutes a 'mechanism.'71 Mechanisms are influenced by differences in how an intervention is delivered but also by the context of particular women's lives or different service configurations - see Figure 2 for potential exemplars of this dynamic.<sup>71</sup> This means that the acceptability and outcomes of DC-CON may be highly contextually contingent.<sup>72</sup> A realist approach seeks to identify certain patterns ('demi-regularities'<sup>65</sup>) between types of resource (e.g. a phone call), how individuals respond and how a particular context may alter these responses. Hence, a realist review is focused on identifying and testing programme theories that can account for the contingent nature of intervention implementation.73



### Figure 2 - CMOc diagram from Dalkin et al, 2015<sup>71</sup>

call linstead

of telephone

call)

In a realist review, the identification and testing of relevant programme theories takes place through an ongoing and iterative process of stakeholder consultation, evidence retrieval and evidence synthesis. Increasingly, key informant interviews are also utilised in a limited manner as part of these approaches in order to 'fill in the gaps' (if relevant evidence is lacking) and to help test and refine the final theories.<sup>64, 73</sup>

In the early stages, the review team identifies potential programme theories (or draws upon existing programme theories – 'candidate theories') that might identify and explain key mechanisms that need to be generated for an intervention to work in particular contexts and that will lead to particular outcomes.<sup>64</sup> These programme theories are expressed as context-intervention-mechanism-outcome (CIMO) configurations.<sup>73</sup> The initial CIMO configurations are then tested and refined through iterative cycles of evidence identification, analysis, stakeholder consultation and (if required), key informant interviews.<sup>64</sup> This ongoing process enables the identification of the most relevant causal mechanisms, making it possible to generate propositions (referred to as 'mid-range theories') about how interventions work in different contexts. These midrange explanatory theories are a principal output from a realist review. Their insights make a substantive contribution to health service innovation because, by taking context into account, they are able to directly inform the development of new interventions for DC-CON in maternity care are being developed at pace in many different contexts, yet currently lack a theoretically informed evidence base.<sup>45</sup>

Scoping searches of PROSPERO, Medline and the Cochrane Library have not identified any similar reviews currently being undertaken. Based on the results of these initial scoping searches, the research team is confident that sufficient evidence is available for the project.

# Study Design

Our proposed realist synthesis will be conducted in 4 phases over an 18 month period designed to: (i) refine the review focus and generate initial programme theories, (ii) explore and develop the programme theories in light of evidence, (iii) test/refine the programme theories and (iv) construct actionable recommendations for future research and practice. The review will follow the RAMESES (Realist and Meta-narrative Evidence Synthesis Evolving Standards) quality procedures<sup>73</sup> and, subsequently, will comply with RAMESES reporting guidance.<sup>74</sup> Each phase of the review (with its associated search approaches) is described sequentially below, although in practice there is considerable iteration between them. Each phase of the review potentially draws upon three sources of evidence: (i) literature (published and unpublished research, audit, evaluation and theory), (ii) diverse stakeholder expertise and insights, and (iii) key informant interviews. The review will be registered with PROSPERO and Open Science Framework. A protocol will be finalised after completion of Phase 1 (see below) and submitted for publication.

# METHODS

The project stages (outlined in detailed below) will be facilitated through 4 groups:

- Core Research Team
- This includes all applicants on the bid, including the PPI co-applicant (Candice Sunney/CS)
- PPI/Core Stakeholder Groups

These are community organisations (representing diverse groups of service users) and health professionals (with diverse roles) with a formal mandate to be involved in all stages of the project, including dissemination. There are two core stakeholder groups: community

organisation stakeholder group (COSU-SG) and health professional stakeholder group (HP-SG)

<u>Associated Stakeholders</u>

These include a wider group of service user, community organisation and professional stakeholders to ensure full and inclusive representation of perspectives into the project

Project Advisory Group

This comprises a small senior group of professionals and community advocates whose role is to advise the core research team

See diagram below for an illustration of the project structure





## PPI

This project has been informed by PPI from its outset and seeks to follow the NIHR UK Standards for Public Involvement in Research.<sup>75</sup> Public involvement in the project will be reported following the GRIPP2 reporting checklist.<sup>76</sup>

The research question originated directly from a collaborative research priority setting exercise undertaken in late 2020 in the Nottingham/Nottinghamshire area.<sup>77</sup> This initiative involved members of the current research team, maternity care professionals, commissioners and service users (women who were pregnant or had recently given birth) from the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Maternity Voices Partnership (NMVP) and the Nottingham Maternity Research Network (NMRN). The NMRN is a maternity research-focused PPI group founded by members of the academic research team. The NMVP and NMRN assisted in developing an on-line survey and distributed this through their networks. Identifying types of maternity care interactions which can be delivered safely and effectively via digital and remote methods was rated as high priority by all respondents.<sup>77</sup> The NMRN has continued to be instrumental in shaping the current project. For

example, they identified a need to increase the diversity of PPI within the project. As a result, two other organisations were invited to become involved: (i) Women, Health and Family Services (based in east London serving deprived communities in an ethnically and linguistically diverse area and which runs an award winning 'Maternity Mates' community volunteer service), and (ii) the National Autistic Society (this has national representation and has been undertaking several recent projects on neuro-diversity and pregnancy/motherhood).

Within the project structure, these 2 organisations have been grouped together with the NMRN to form a 'Community Organisation and Service User Stakeholder Group' (COSU-SG). The COSU-SG enables a wide spectrum of socio-economic, geographical, ethnic and neuro-diversity amongst women to be represented. Each of the 3 organisations has a named lead for involvement in the project. Up to 3 individuals from each organisation will attend project stakeholder events (the organisational lead and 2 others). The organisational leads will be responsible for selecting the most appropriate individuals from their organisations to engage with project events. They will also facilitate consultation and engagement with their wider networks where required (e.g. through social media or email lists or by suggesting particular individuals as key informants). The project core research team includes a PPI co-applicant, Candice Sunney (CS), who is an established member of the NMRN. She will be supported by Professor Helen Spiby (HS) and her role is to ensure that PPI is embedded into all project processes and at all project stages (see 'PPI section' on the application form for full details of PPI training and support).

## Stakeholder Involvement

PPI and stakeholder involvement are integral to each Phase of this project. In addition to the COSU-SG, the project will also be informed by a health professional stakeholder group (HP-SG). The HP-SG will include between 7-10 obstetricians, digital midwives, frontline and managerial midwifery staff from different maternity settings. Group membership is not bounded and fixed, however, but may evolve as the project progresses to ensure that appropriate expertise and insights are accessed. Due to the rapidity of service developments and potential turnover of staff, volunteers for the HP-SG will be sought nearer the project start date and will be recruited via professional networks and pre-existing special interest groups and forums (e.g. the Digital Maternity Network Forum). As noted further below, the core stakeholder groups will be involved through formal events (e.g. project workshops and training events), but also more informally (e.g. by consulting individuals or just one organisation) at specific points in the project where their particular expertise would be valuable.

The two stakeholder groups (COSU-SG and HP-SG) are the project's 'core' stakeholders and will be involved formally in the project at each step. In addition, in order to maximise representation and inclusion from other service user or professional constituencies, we will develop a wider network of 'Associated Stakeholders'. The project will seek to actively engage associated stakeholders through social media, through communication within professional and third sector networks, through the personal networks of project team members and through two national webinars at different points in the project (see below). Associated stakeholders will be individuals (e.g. experts in digital inclusion) or groups (e.g. community organisations advocating for a particular population – e.g. hearing impaired, ethnic minority group or teenage mothers). Associated stakeholders will be involved through project communications, through invited participation in two webinars and via key informant interviews (more detail below).

## **Key Informant Interviews**

Data sources for the project may also involve a small number of key informant interviews. Within a realist review, the purpose of these is to provide additional insights to confirm, refute or refine proposed programme theories.<sup>64</sup> These are most likely to be part of Phase 3 (see below) but may also take place in the other Phases if additional data is required to support programme theory development. Potential interviewees may include NHS staff or service users. Interviewees will be recruited purposively using contacts from the research team's own professional networks or through contacts identified by the core and associated stakeholder groups. The aim of the key informant interviews is to provide new insights or test the transferability of programme theories (e.g. describing experiences of utilising digital technology in a specific rather than generalist setting - such as a perinatal mental health service or testing a theory in relation to a specific characteristic such as the use of DC-CON with those who are hearing impaired). The specific function of the interviews within a realist review means that only a small number are usually required - we anticipate no more than ten. The interviews will be transcribed by a professional transcribing service. If interviews are needed in languages other than English, relevant materials (e.g. participant information sheet, consent form) will be translated. Likewise, during the interview, professional interpreters would be employed if required. Interviews will be analysed by the research team using a framework approach,<sup>78</sup> mapping the data to the CIMO configurations. It is envisaged that interviews will be conducted via video-calls, but the modality will be flexible depending upon participant preference. Service users agreeing to an interview will be provided with a £25 Amazon voucher to recognise their time contribution.

## **Overarching Approach to Literature Searching**

Within this realist review, the overall search approach will follow the only published systematic approach to the "realist search", as lead authored by AB.<sup>79, 80</sup> This approach extends and enhances the Task and Time Template for a realist review advanced by Pawson.<sup>65</sup> It outlines 4 separate and distinct phases of searching using different retrieval techniques and targeted at different evidence bases (conducting the background search, searching for programme theory, searching for empirical studies, searching to refine programme theory and identify relevant mid-range theory), "topped" and "tailed" by precise question formulation and meticulous documentation.<sup>79</sup>

The search strategies within each Phase will be developed and operationalised by experienced information specialists (AB & MC). The search recognises that the concept of DC-CON is populated by multiple synonyms and so will analyse existing systematic reviews to generate an exhaustive list of Intervention search terms. It acknowledges that relevant terms for the Context will include overarching concepts, each with multiple synonyms (such as "pregnancy", "midwifery care", "obstetric care" and "maternity care"), related to specific stages and sub-stages of the maternity care pathway (e.g. antenatal, intrapartum postnatal) and linked to specific stakeholder groups (e.g. midwives, service users, obstetricians). Following Phase 1 (below), broad 'hedges' of search terms related to 'Context' may be linked to specific topics (e.g. perinatal mental health, infant feeding, hypertension, diabetes), procedures and processes (e.g. monitoring, screening, information giving). In line with current best practice we will not specifically detail Outcomes (which are poorly indexed) or Mechanisms (which are described within full texts) in the search strategy. Instead these will become apparent and be compiled once full texts are examined.<sup>79</sup> The search dates will be restricted to papers from 2010 to the present to reflect the need for contemporary data. Likewise, inclusion of evidence will be limited to papers in the English language and in highincome settings (OECD countries) to maximise retrieval of evidence of relevance to the UK NHS.

The search approach will engage the project advisory group and stakeholders throughout, consulting them where required to provide advice (for example clarifying the terminology used at service level) and help with identifying relevant literature (including, for example, cascading requests to identify literature and policy/practice documents through their associated social media sites and websites).

## **Review Phases**

The flowchart (Appendix 1) provides a detailed visual representation of the review Phases and associated search approaches.

# <u>Phase 1: Refining the Review Scope and Developing Initial Programme Theories</u> This phase aims to identify and make explicit (through CIMO configurations) an initial set of programme theories that may explain how DC-CON in maternity care can be utilised to achieve optimal outcomes, for whom and in what contexts? Given the potential variability of modality and use of DC-CON in maternity care, an important part of this process will be to focus and prioritise the most important questions and outcomes. This phase comprises extensive stakeholder engagement to refine the review questions and to shape the associated search strategies. Phase 1 involves 3 inter-linked stages (A-C).

Stage A – Refining the Review Scope - Consultation and Formulation of the Focused Question The project will begin with a workshop for the project advisory group, the research team and core stakeholder groups. This event will be designed to foster team building and to familiarise everyone with realist review methodology and with the project plan. Team members will be asked to share their own stories and experiences of DC-CON and to consider what best practice looks like for particular contexts and for different groups of women and how (i.e. through which mechanisms) they feel best practice can be achieved. They will be asked to prioritise the key questions and outcomes they feel are most relevant as lines of enquiry for DC-CON implementation. The output of this initial consultative work will be a set of refined research questions and an initial set of programme theories. This consultative work will be informed by a series of broad background searches that will enable the review team to assess the breadth, depth and range of evidence available.

# Stage B – Searching to Identify and Develop Initial Programme Theories

This stage will utilise the insights from Stage A to search for, and identify, key papers (of any study design) on DC-CON implementation that can yield insights for programme theory development. The search is iterative, utilising searches on electronic databases, grey literature sources, suggestions from stakeholder suggestions, citation tracking and reference list searching of conceptually rich index papers. This stage will include, but will not be restricted to, maternity care settings as we know from pre-protocol scoping that relevant theories have been developed regarding the implementation of DC-CON in other clinical settings.<sup>23, 57, 59, 61</sup> Each included paper will be scrutinised to elucidate how 'best practice' in DC-CON is defined and to identify the mechanisms through which successful consultations are purported to work in relation to different contextual configurations and population groups. Details of key theories ('candidate theories') that have been used to explain implementation mechanisms will be used to code the key findings related to implementation. Where possible, findings will be coded and analysed in relation to possible context, mechanism and outcome configurations, helping to generate initial ideas around relevant programme theories. The coding and analysis templates for the reviews in this stage will

be developed and piloted by several members of the review team. The majority of the coding will be undertaken by one reviewer, with a second reviewer completing a random sample of approximately 20% to monitor quality and consistency. The findings of this stage will be presented using tables, figures, flow charts and narrative summaries to highlight the key features of the evidence and to describe potential programme theories.

The output of this step will be a summary report to be shared with the whole project team to inform ongoing work.

## Stage C – Consultations and Development of Initial Programme Theories

This stage will broaden out the consultative process and include a webinar to which a wider network of 'associated stakeholders' are invited. The preliminary focus areas and analyses will be presented and critically discussed. Suggestions for further inclusion or prioritisation of potential programme theories and relevant literature will be invited. Additional searches and analysis may then take place.

The final stage of Phase 1 will comprise a second workshop for the research team and core stakeholder groups in which the findings of the theory-identification searches and analyses will be presented and discussed. The group will then validate and refine the key focus of the review and propose a refined set of initial programme theories. These will then be tested and explored in Phase 2.

## Phase 2: Evidence Retrieval, Review and Synthesis

The aim of Phase 2 is to determine whether the initial programme theories are supported by empirical evidence and to analyse this evidence to elaborate, refine, adjust and test the theories. This Phase continues the iterative process of literature searching, data extraction and analysis.

## Search Strategy

At the core of the search approach is the search for empirical studies that can provide data with which to explore and elaborate the initial programme theories. The search strategy will be iterative, proceeding with carefully formulated searches based on sub-sets of literature constructed using terms associated with the initial programme theories (CIMO frameworks) and key concepts.<sup>79, 81</sup> Searches are initially broad but may then be narrowed down to focus more specifically on evidence associated with particular mechanisms. As an example, in our review, we may construct an initial search using sets of terms derived from our programme theories combined using the 'AND' Boolean operator:

- Context (from the initial programme theory) antenatal care
- Interventions/phenomenon of interest (from the initial programme theory) video-based consultation

A follow up search might then focus more specifically on the influence of a mechanism (e.g. trust or 'relationships') in relation to an outcome (e.g. positive health behaviours). In the first instance, the main focus of the search for evidence will be for literature related directly to maternity settings. However, in a realist review, the focus of analysis is the programme theory (or mechanism of action) – hence we may also draw upon wider literature to seek opportunities for transferable learning. In the example above, we might, therefore, seek evidence related to 'trust' in the context of video consultations from other clinical settings such as primary care to confirm or refute our emerging theories. The searches will include systematic reviews and empirical research of any study design, including service evaluation, audit and quality improvement projects. The searches will also include existing policies and practice guidelines surrounding DC-CON in maternity care in the UK. This is because the recommendations set out in policy or practice guidance rest upon implicit or explicit theoretical assumptions regarding implementation. Moreover, the inclusion of policy documents will help to ensure that governance issues are considered alongside implementation so that the review is appropriately contextualised.

As in Phase 1, search sources will include electronic databases, grey literature and expert stakeholders (see Table 2 below). Additional search approaches will include reference list searching, citation tracking, identification of sibling papers (linked papers from a single study) as well as cluster searching<sup>81</sup> which involves building up rich 'cases' of different models of DC-CON in order to grow a cluster of related reports around named or identifiable initiatives to offer both richness and detail. Unlike a conventional systematic review search, searches in a realist review are not necessarily exhaustive but follow the principles of theoretical saturation, ceasing when programme theories are deemed to be sufficiently explained, supported or refuted by the empirical evidence.<sup>73, 79</sup> Likewise, additional targeted searches may be undertaken to explore new mechanisms or other aspects of programme theory that may be identified during the review.<sup>73, 79</sup>

Electronic Databases (2010-present)	Grey Literature Sources	Stakeholders	
Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials	Google Scholar	<ul> <li>Project</li> </ul>	
Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews	Websites (e.g. RCOG,	Advisory Group	
JBI Library	RCM, RCN, NCT, NHS	<ul> <li>Stakeholder</li> </ul>	
MEDLINE Ovid	Trusts, NHS <sup>x</sup> , Health	groups	
Embase Ovid	Foundation, WHO)	<ul> <li>Others (e.g. via</li> </ul>	
PsycINFO Ovid	Conference proceedings	social media	
ASSIA Cambridge Scientific Abstracts (Applied	OpenGrey	requests, email	
Social Sciences Index and Abstracts)	ProQuest Dissertations &	list serves)	
CINAHL Plus EBCSCOhost (Cumulative Index	Theses		
to Nursing and Allied Health Literature)	<ul> <li>EThOS – British Library</li> </ul>		
MIDIRS Ovid	Electronic Theses Online		

#### Table 2: Sources of Evidence

## Selection and Appraisal

Records will be imported into EndNote and duplicates removed. Study screening and selection will be undertaken by two reviewers independently, with recourse to other team members in cases of ambiguity or disagreement. To aid transparency and consistency, once the initial programme theories have been formulated, an 'inclusion criteria flow chart' will be constructed in which key concepts are operationalised and against which each potential study can be assessed.<sup>82</sup>

Records will initially be screened by title and abstract. All seemingly relevant papers will then be examined in full-text and reasons for exclusion noted in a table. In line with realist methodology, records will be screened for inclusion based on relevance, rigour and richness.<sup>64, 73</sup> An assessment of relevance considers the extent to which a paper can directly contribute to theory building or theory testing.<sup>73</sup> An assessment of rigour considers whether the methods used to generate the relevant data are credible and trustworthy. Richness refers to the extent to which study findings are fully elaborated through 'thick description', grounded in the data and provide explanatory insights.<sup>83</sup> In a realist review, the process of quality assessment refers to the specific data that is relevant to the particular programme theory being examined rather than on the basis of a global evaluation of overall study quality.<sup>84</sup> Hence for each key finding, a sophisticated judgment will need to be made about the plausibility and coherence of the methods used to generate it.<sup>74</sup> For each included paper,

the team will follow the process outlined by Rycroft Malone *et al*,<sup>70</sup> asking: "*is the evidence provided in this theory area good enough and relevant enough to be included?*". These judgements will be articulated and recorded for each study as part of the screening and data extraction process (see below).

## Data Extraction, Analysis and Synthesis

Data will be extracted from the included studies in two ways. First, information about study characteristics will be extracted into a summary table (as is the case with a conventional systematic review). This will include information on features such as study setting, design, methods, details of intervention modality and technology, participants, outcomes and stage of maternity care pathway. Second, a bespoke data extraction form will be developed based on the initial programme theories, and as noted above, will include sections in which to note assessments of relevance, richness and rigour. Theory-based data extraction enables the coding and charting of relevant data so that elements of the theory can become populated to investigate what works, for whom, how and in what contexts. The analytical process involves both deductive and inductive coding. Deductive coding will involve extracting data that appears to be directly related to aspects of the programme theory. Where it is possible to make relevant inferences, the data will also be coded in relation to contexts, mechanisms or outcomes. However, the evidence may also reveal new contexts, mechanisms or outcomes which will be identified and coded inductively.

The data extraction templates and associated analytical process will be developed collaboratively amongst the core research team and extensively piloted. Once the team feel they have achieved a clear and consistent approach, the remaining data extraction will be undertaken by one reviewer, with a second reviewer checking approximately 20%. The outputs of this stage will be a set of evidence tables. There will be one overarching table representing the key characteristics of all the studies included in the review. Then there will be series of tables organised to represent the different bodies of literature and findings related to each initial programme theory. Thus, each theory area will have its own evidence table.

The process of data analysis will be ongoing and iterative. The evidence will be reviewed within and across the theory areas to explore how it builds upon, refutes or provides alternative explanations for the initial CIMO configurations. The analytical process will involve asking questions such as: "*What does this evidence suggest about this aspect of our theory? Does it support it? Does it disprove it? Does it suggest an amendment to it?*"<sup>73</sup> This analytic process involves both abductive and retroductive reasoning – i.e. making new observations from the evidence, inferring plausible explanations related to the programme theory, seeking to understand the cause of perceived events beyond what can be observed and seeking to identify over-arching patterns. Wong *et al*<sup>73</sup> propose a series of 'conceptual tools' (derived from Pawson, 2005<sup>65</sup>) which will be employed by the review team in this complex process, as indicated in Table 3 below.

### Table 3: Analytic Process of a Realist Review

- Juxtaposition of sources of evidence—for example, where evidence about outcomes in one study allows insights into evidence about outcomes in another study;
- Reconciling of sources of evidence—where results differ in comparable circumstances, these will be examined further to find possible reasons for the different results;
- Adjudication of sources of evidence-based on methodological strengths or weaknesses;
- Consolidation of sources of evidence—where outcomes differ in particular contexts, an explanation will be constructed on how and why these outcomes occur differently;
- Situating sources of evidence—when outcomes are different in particular contexts, a possible explanation will be developed as to why they differ

This stage of the review is highly resource intensive, involving much deliberation during frequent meetings of the review team and additional literature searches to test new insights, adjustments or elaborations made to the theoretical propositions. Our stakeholder groups will continue to be consulted at different points to seek their views and test out new ideas.

## Accounting for Temporality in the Synthesis

An important feature of the analysis will be to explore the issue of temporality and sustainability within the evidence. For example, it might be expected that evidence on Covid-19-related DC-CON implementation might include different experiences depending upon the stage of the pandemic and the length of time that staff and service users have had to adjust to changes in service delivery models. Likewise, even in non-Covid-related studies, experiences with new technologies vary depending upon the length of time since introduction, with many studies focusing upon the early stages of implementation rather than exploring how and why technologies become embedded, normalised or sustainable.<sup>59, 85</sup>

In this project, we will endeavour to take temporality into account in two ways. The first, relates to evidence that is specifically concerned with changes made during the Covid-19 pandemic. Here, we will ensure that our data extraction template explicitly acknowledges the time period of data collection, extracting and mapping data to the stages of the pandemic and then transparently considering these stages as part of the analysis. Likewise, working with our advisory and stakeholder groups, we will attempt to develop a clearer picture of how digital consultations were initially introduced in different settings and how their use and implementation may have adapted and changed as the pandemic progressed. The second issue relates to the fact that not all of the evidence that we anticipate including in the review will come from the pandemic context. We will endeavour to include temporality as an aspect of our analysis for **all** the evidence by explicitly considering the stage of implementation of an innovation that is reported and by considering data related to change and adaptation over time (where reported). We plan to draw upon concepts from the Dynamic Sustainability Framework<sup>86</sup> to help 'sensitise' the team to issues of temporality. The framework focuses attention to the constantly changing evidence-base, the multi-level context in which interventions are delivered, and the broader ecological system within which the maternity care exists and operates

The output of Phase 2 will be comprehensive set of evidence tables and refined programme theories linked to associated sets of working papers organised by DC-CON type, purpose and (where relevant) temporality in relation to different points in the maternity care pathway.

### Phase 3: Test and Refine Programme Theories (Validation)

The purpose of this Phase is to test and further refine the programme theories. This is done in three interlinked ways.

First, as part of an ongoing recursive approach, new literature searches will be undertaken to find, test and empirically explore any new theories identified during the review process.<sup>79</sup> This may also include a need to re-visit and re-code previously identified papers. As noted by Booth et al,<sup>79</sup> this stage may involve searches for specific named theories that have been identified in Phase 2 and that are considered worthy of further empirical exploration.

Second, further in-depth consultation with the project's core stakeholder groups will be undertaken to test and refine proposed theories. This phase will include a third workshop to discuss the findings from Phase 2. Our core stakeholder groups will be asked to consider the proposed

theories in relation to their own experiences (additional participants or stakeholder groups may also be invited to attend this workshop to ensure that all aspects of the review findings can be debated). Particular attention will be paid to clarifying the key mechanisms that are required to produce desired outcomes and to identify the key links between these mechanisms and different contexts. Prior to the workshop, the stakeholders will be asked to identify several examples based on their own or others' experiences of where digital clinical consultations were perceived to have worked extremely well and where adverse events or negative experiences had been reported. These exemplars will be used to interrogate the proposed CIMO configurations to see if they can explain what happened. Through this process we will identify 'gaps' that may remain in our understanding and identify the essential elements of intervention and context that need to be place to ensure that the appropriate mechanisms can be triggered.

Third, as described above, we will undertake a limited number of key informant interviews to test aspects of the programme theories and to evaluate their plausibility, credibility and transferability.<sup>64</sup>

The output of this Phase will be a theoretically-grounded explanatory framework for safe, appropriate and acceptable DC-CON in maternity care that can be used to guide intervention development, policy and practice.

### Phase 4: Development of Actionable Recommendations

The purpose of this Phase is to generate actionable recommendations from the review. We will do this in two ways.

First, we will hold a second on-line national webinar to which our wider range of 'associate stakeholders' will be invited. The purpose of this webinar will be to share and 'sense-check' the review findings and to solicit suggestions for recommendations, actions and strategies for dissemination. Second, we will hold further meetings to discuss, develop and finalise recommendations appropriate to a range of constituents (researchers, commissioners, service leads, professionals, women, community organisations) and feasible for implementation in a UK NHS context. We will consider short, medium and long term implications and actions and finalise a plan for dissemination. In line with the MRC complex interventions framework,<sup>56</sup> we will also seek to identify key theories, interventions or mechanisms that require further testing through robust research.

## Ensuring Timeliness, Currency and Relevance of The Review

Research and service developments related to DC-CON are both very rapidly evolving fields. There is need therefore to ensure that the review includes the most recent evidence and takes cognizance of new service innovations. The project team will endeavour to address these issues in several ways (listed below), and, in the process, will explore ways in which realist review approaches can become more 'rapid' and 'live':<sup>87, 88</sup>

- As noted above, a key feature of realist methodology is the iterative nature of the process and the fact that searching is conducted in stages, repetitively and over time. We would expect to continue the various search approaches until the final 3 months of the project. In this way, we will seek to become aware of potentially relevant evidence as soon as it is available.
- We will set up weekly 'alerts' on the major databases, including medRxiv (the Health Sciences pre-print server that is being increasingly commonly used) to identify newly published studies.
- Our extensive searches of the grey literature will harness website and grey literature database searches. We will supplement these with ongoing advice from our project advisory group,

stakeholder groups and social media for relevant evidence. In this way, we will use systematic strategies to find current best evidence of key relevance to the programme theories that are identified.

- In addition, we will secure an ongoing commitment from our stakeholder groups and project advisory group to horizon-scan for relevant new evidence and to report key changes to service or policy that the team may need to take into account.
- In Phases 1 and 2, we will explore with our Project Advisory and stakeholder groups whether, amongst the emerging programme theories, there are one or two areas that require more immediate attention (e.g. in areas relating to clinical safety) in order to support faster dissemination. These areas would then be addressed first, with other programme areas being give attention later in the review cycle
- As well as being a challenge, the imperative for 'currency' presents an important opportunity for methodological innovation. We will seek to generate debate within the 'realist' community on this topic by hosting a methodologically focused webinar and will seek to incorporate any lessons learned into our review process.
- Throughout, we will engage strategies of reflexivity and maintain detailed records of our actions and decision-making processes.

# DISSEMINATION, OUTPUTS AND ANTICIPATED IMPACT

As listed below, we will adopt a range of dissemination strategies aimed at different audiences, augmented and signposted through social media. Our PPI co-applicant and core stakeholder groups will play an integral role in influencing and co-producing **all** dissemination strategies and resources. To maximise relevance and timeliness of the review, where possible, we will include strategies that enable interim outputs or interim insights to be shared with practitioners and policy makers. We are confident that the project will influence key groups to support best practice in DC-CON and will form the foundation for future research in this critical and rapidly evolving aspect of NHS care:

- Website: we will develop a user-friendly website for project information and updates. The website will be used as a key source of information about the project but also as one (of several) vehicles for sharing key project outputs and related resources. For example, we will create a website section entitled 'Evidence' where we will share the evidence (i.e. the references or websites) that we identify on an ongoing basis, categorised into key themes or topic areas. We will also have a 'Blog' section on the website where we will provide regular reflective updates on methodological issues/challenges as well as on key insights being generated by the project. We will also have a 'Resources' section and a 'Training' section where we will make available any powerpoint presentations and all the other dissemination and training resources developed for the project. We will have a function on the website for people to register an interest in the project and will include those individuals in invitations to online stakeholder engagement events and webinars and for dissemination of project outputs. We will use Social Media to draw attention to the website and all relevant project updates and webinars on an ongoing basis
- **Report**: we will submit a final project report to the NIHR for publication in the HS&DR library
- **Publications in peer reviewed journals**: we aim to publish 3 open access outputs from this work the realist review protocol, the final realist synthesis and a methodological paper on our approach to constructing a 'living' realist review.
- **Publications in practice journals**: to ensure that project findings reach practising professionals as well as academics, we will publish an overview of the key findings and implications in a practice-focused journal (e.g. The Practising Midwife).

- Short report: specifically for obstetricians, to be circulated to RCOG members and Fellows
- Infographics: working with our PPI/core stakeholder groups, we will produce three infographics for different audiences and purposes: one will be constructed to disseminate the key review findings and recommendations via social media; two will be constructed to provide 'top tips' on getting the most out of DC-CON (one aimed at professionals and one at service users). The service user infographic will be also be audio-recorded and translated in up to 5 different languages
- **Conference**: we will present the findings at a national (e.g. RCM Research Conference) and international conference (e.g. RCOG World Congress)
- **Webinars**: we will hold a series of on-line webinars aimed at different audiences to share the review findings and debate the key recommendations
- Online educational resource for practitioners, educators and students: We will produce an open access Re-useable Learning Object (RLO) to be developed by the University of Nottingham's award-winning Health E-Learning and Media team. RLO development is based on a model of co-production, hence we will continue to work together with our stakeholder groups to ensure that material is engaging and directly relevant to practice
- **Best practice implementation toolkit**: A best practice guide will be produced alongside a power-point slide set that can be used in practice areas to inform discussions about implementation of remote consultations.

# ETHICS APPROVALS

Ethical approval for the key informant interviews will be sought from the University of Nottingham Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Ethics Committee. NHS ethical approval will not be required as healthcare professionals will be recruited through membership of professional organisations (e.g. RCM e-lists) and service users will be recruited as 'healthy volunteers' through community-based stakeholder groups.

## PROJECT MANAGEMENT

The PI (CE) and co-applicants (including the PPI co-applicant) constitute the core research team. We are a highly experienced team with a strong track record of previous collaboration, PPI engagement and demonstrable ability to successfully execute and disseminate high quality review projects. The PI will have overall accountability for meeting project deliverables and adhering to the time frame, with other members responsible for contributing specific expertise and inputs, including liaison with, and support of, the stakeholder engagement process. The Research Fellow will be supervised by the PI through weekly meetings. Their career development will be further supported through training and mentorship provided through the University of Nottingham's 'Researcher Academy'. HS will be responsible for liaison with the two core stakeholder groups and for support of our PPI co-applicant (CS). The Research Fellow (supported by the research team) will be responsible for ongoing engagement with the 'Associated Stakeholder' groups (through updates on the website, webinars and social media). The core research team will meet online monthly or more often as required.

The core team will be advised by a Project Advisory Group (PAG), chaired by HS. The PAG will meet the core team at three time points during the project and will act as a source of expert advice to shape the project focus, to provide a senior policy perspective, to help identify relevant literature and to support the dissemination strategy. The PAG currently has the following membership:

- **Coralie Rodgers**, Lead Midwife for Digital and Achieving Equity, Lancashire & South Cumbria Maternity and Newborn Alliance
- Dr Sunita Sharma, Consultant Obstetrician and Gynaecologist, Chelsea & Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Advisor to the NICE Guideline Committee on postnatal care; NHS Clinical Entrepreneur; Winner of multiple awards for digital innovations, including the Mum & Baby App
- Danni Burnett Deputy Chief Nurse, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire CCG
- Victoria Komolafe Professional Advisor, Midwife (Digital), Royal College of Midwives (RCM)
- Professor Gina Higginbottom Maternity Stakeholder Group; NHS Race and Health Observatory
- Amanda Mansfield Consultant Midwife, London Ambulance Service
- Juliet Albert FGM Specialist Midwife

## Supporting a Positive and Inclusive Team Culture

This project involves many diverse groups and team members with varying levels of familiarity with clinical or research processes. An essential part of project management will be to build and support a positive team culture where all members feel valued and respected. The project team is firmly committed to a collaborative and non-hierarchical approach where all stakeholder groups are equally valued and where all have an opportunity to share their views and to be heard. As such, we anticipate that the meetings and workshops will yield different experiences and different perspectives. We will facilitate project interactions by encouraging a confidence in articulating diverse view-points together with a project culture of respect and humility. Collectively, we will promote an ethos of '**creative synthesis**' – explicitly recognising that the whole is greater than the sum of its parts – and that each part is important and needs to be visible and valued.

We will do this by explicitly setting out and repeating 'ground rules' of inclusivity, receptiveness to difference, trust and respect in project meetings. We will also do this by encouraging project and group members to get to know each other, to build a shared vision for the project and to build capacity (which in turn facilitates confidence).

Currently, we plan for all three groups (project advisory group, core research team, core stakeholder groups) to meet together in an initial team building 'kick off' meeting, intended to be face to face, to enable networking and relationship building. We will use this meeting to ensure that all stakeholders develop a clear and shared understanding of the project aim, objectives and methods and also of their respective roles and responsibilities. At this meeting (and through smaller informal discussions) we will also identify specific training needs (e.g. more information on realist approaches, training on EDI or the digital transformation agenda). We will then deliver some training inputs at different time points (for all, or for specific groups, as required) to ensure that all stakeholders feel knowledgeable, empowered and equipped to fully participate in the project. As the project progresses, we will review and remain sensitive to respectful inclusion and be flexible in terms of adopting strategies to ensure that all can participate (e.g. by having a pre-meeting or a smaller follow up meeting with a particular stakeholder or group if required). An email list and Whatsapp group (or similar) will be established for each stakeholder group (HP-SG and COSU-SG). This will help to facilitate communication and to target requests for engagement and support. In addition, prior to project meetings, we will ensure that relevant materials are sent to the groups well in advance (and include additional information to aid accessibility where relevant).

After the initial project workshop, we expect that the two core stakeholder groups will work together as engaged participants in the remaining project workshops (rather than treating them as part of separate groups). We are mindful however that there may need to be some flexibility around this if timings, work/life pressures or Covid-19 disrupt plans – so separate smaller meetings may be needed at times – but avoided if possible. The 'Project Timetable' section below provides further detail on how often, and in what modality, project meetings will take place.

In terms of dealing with potential conflict, we recognise that differences of opinion may occur. Having established a positive project working culture, we would strive to facilitate a process where agreement and consensus can be achieved and, if not, where all will nonetheless feel respected. By having multiple groups engaged with the project, we hope that areas of contention can be resolved through engagement with experts (both professional and service user experts) and by bringing in outside additional expertise where required. As noted in the Methods section above, Phase 4 of the project will include a webinar and meetings to 'sense check' the review findings and solicit recommendations. We expect that this process will also help to clearly indicate a consensus of where the project needs to focus.

# PROJECT/RESEARCH EXPERTISE AND CONTRIBUTIONS

The core research team reflects the diverse service user, clinical, methodological, information science, theoretical and policy expertise required to successfully implement this project. The team (listed below) has a strong commitment to, and significant experience of PPI and of working in partnership with stakeholders to ensure the integrity and credibility of the review outputs.

- Dr Catrin Evans (CE) Principal investigator, 20%FTE Co-Director of the Nottingham Centre for Evidence Based Healthcare and member of the School of Health Sciences' Maternal Health and Wellbeing Research Group. Experienced PI and systematic reviewer.
- **Research Fellow (RF)** 100%FTE. The RF will support all aspects of the project, but will focus primarily on study screening, selection, data extraction, synthesis and report writing.
- Professor Helen Spiby (HS) 10%FTE. Professor of Midwifery, Lead of the School of Health Sciences' Maternal Health and Wellbeing Research Group. Expert in evidence-based Midwifery. HS established, and provides ongoing support to, the Nottingham Maternity Research Network (NMRN) PPI group. HS will contribute expert midwifery input to all project stages. HS will be responsible for liaison with, and support of, the PAG, our PPI co-applicant and the two stakeholder groups.
- Candice Sunney (CS) 10%FTE. PPI co-applicant and member of the NMRN. CS will provide PPI input to every stage of the project and will work with HS to support the community/service user stakeholders.
- Dr Kerry Evans (KE) 5%FTE. NIHR-funded clinical-academic midwife, member of the Nottingham Maternal Health and Wellbeing Research Group. Experienced systematic reviewer. Has particular expertise in digital interventions for maternity care. KE will contribute particularly to programme theory development and dissemination.
- Dr Andrew Booth (AB) 5%FTE. Co-Director of the NIHR HS&DR Sheffield Evidence Synthesis Centre and member of the Cochrane Qualitative and Implementation Methods Group. AB has particular expertise in realist synthesis and realist methodology and will act as senior methodological advisor for the project.
- Professor Stephen Timmons (ST) 5%FTE. Sociologist and member of the Centre for Healthcare Innovation and Leadership (CHILL). ST has particular expertise in implementation science as applied to technology implementation in the NHS and will provide particular input around programme theory development.

- **Dr Nia Jones (NJ)** 2%FTE, Associate Clinical Professor in Obstetrics and Gynaecology at Nottingham University Hospital Trust with a special interest in digital interventions. She will provide a medical perspective and will liaise with national obstetric networks. She is the CRN East Midlands representative for Reproductive Health and Childbirth.
- Mark Clowes (MC) 20%FTE (for 9 months) MC is an experienced information scientist and systematic reviewer at ScHARR. MC will develop and implement the search strategies.
- Benash Nazmeen (BM) Consultant. BM is a specialist cultural liaison midwife with Bolton NHS Foundation Teaching Trust and co-founder of the Association of South Asian Midwives. She is co-Chair of the Birthrights Inquiry into Racial Injustice in Maternity Services in the UK and Chair of the Shared Decision-Making Council within the NHS Maternity Transformation Programme. BM will ensure the team integrate EDI principles into all aspects of the project.
- Administrator 2%FTE will provide logistical support to the team, particularly with respect to financial arrangements and organising meetings.

# PROJECT/RESEARCH TIMETABLE

The project will be undertaken over 18 months, as outlined in the GANTT chart below. For ease, this has been depicted in a linear manner. As noted previously however, many of the project stages are iterative rather than linear, hence there will be overlaps and recursive loops between the stages (see uploaded project flowchart).



Currently, as per the GANTT chart, there will be four formal meetings where both stakeholder groups will be involved – ideally together and at the same time (although we recognise we may need to be flexible as per stakeholder requirements):

- Two meetings in Phase 1 (one face to face and one on-line)
- One face to face meeting in Phase 3
- One face to face meeting in the dissemination phase for co-production of project outputs In addition, the core stakeholder groups will be invited and expected to be a key part of the online webinars with the wider associated stakeholder groups in Phase 2 and Phase 4.

# SUCCESS CRITERIA AND BARRIERS TO PROPOSED WORK

Success will be assessed against timely completion of the key milestones within each Phase of the review. These will be monitored in the monthly meetings of the core research team. Possible barriers and potential solutions are presented in Table 4 below.

Table 4: Project Risks and Potential Solutions

Potential Barriers/Risks	Potential Solutions
Disruption due to new waves of Covid-19 pandemic	Project meetings would take place virtually. A more flexible meeting/consultation approach would be taken to ensure affected stakeholders (e.g. health workers) could remain involved
Sickness of a team member	As a highly experienced team in substantive posts, with multiple transferable skills, team members would be able to cover for each other
Rapid change in NHS maternity and digital policies and infrastructure	Our project advisory and stakeholder groups have senior representatives from relevant NHS bodies, allowing changes to be identified and fed into the review process where relevant
Ongoing engagement of the stakeholder groups during a long project	We have a designated lead (HS) for stakeholder engagement. We will utilise social media and regular project updates and communications to keep in close contact with all stakeholders and to provide support and training where required
Some programme theories may have insufficient direct evidence from maternity care settings	These will be identified as areas requiring further research. Grey literature and examples of current practice will be actively pursued. Indirect evidence from non-maternity settings will be utilised to provide initial findings to inform the future research agenda

## REFERENCES

1. National Maternity Review. Better Births: Improving Outcomes of Maternity Services in England: A Five Year Forward View for Maternity Care. 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf</u> (accessed 09/02/21)

2. NHS England. Maternity Transformation Programme. Available from:

https://www.england.nhs.uk/mat-transformation/ (accessed 09/02/21)

3. NHS England. Better Births Four Years On: A Review of Progress 2020. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/better-births-four-years-on-progress-report.pdf (accessed 09/02/21)

4. NHS Digital. Digital Maternity: Harnessing Digital Technology in Maternity Services. Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/services/digital-maternity-programme</u> (accessed

5. NHS Digital. Maternity DMA Report: Digital Maturity Assessment of Maternity Services in England. 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/national-maternity-dma-report.pdf</u> (accessed 11/03/21)

6. Renfrew MJ, Cheyne H, Craig J*, et al.* Sustaining quality midwifery care in a pandemic and beyond. *Midwifery*. 2020;**88**:102759-59. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2020.102759

7. Jardine J, Relph S, Magee LA, *et al.* Maternity services in the UK during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: a national survey of modifications to standard care. *BJOG.* 2020. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.16547

8. Fernandez Turienzo C, Newburn M, Agyepong A, *et al.* Addressing inequities in maternal health among women living in communities of social disadvantage and ethnic diversity. *BMC Public Health.* 2021;**21**:176. doi:10.1186/s12889-021-10182-4

9. Hinton L, Kuberska K, Dakin F, *et al.* Creating equitable remote antenatal care: the importance of inclusion. *BMJ Opinion*. 2021.

10. Tranter R, McGraw C. Integrating social media into routine midwifery services: Maternity Direct+. *British Journal of Midwifery*. 2017;**25**:458-64. doi:10.12968/bjom.2017.25.7.458

11. Feroz A, Perveen S, Aftab W. Role of mHealth applications for improving antenatal and postnatal care in low and middle income countries: a systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research*. 2017;**17**:704. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2664-7

12. Dol J, Tomblin Murphy G, Aston M, *et al.* Design, development and usability testing of Essential Coaching for Every Mother: A postnatal text message educational intervention. *Women and Birth.* 2020.

13. Naughton F, Cooper S, Bowker K, *et al.* Adaptation and uptake evaluation of an SMS text message smoking cessation programme (MiQuit) for use in antenatal care. *BMJ Open.* 2015;**5**:e008871.

14. Soltani H, Duxbury AMS, Arden MA, *et al.* Maternal Obesity Management Using Mobile Technology: A Feasibility Study to Evaluate a Text Messaging Based Complex Intervention during Pregnancy. *Journal of Obesity.* 2015;**2015**:814830. doi:10.1155/2015/814830

15. Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists. Self Monitoring of Blood Pressure in Pregnancy: Information for Healthcare Professionals, Version 1. 2020. Available from:

https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/2020-03-30-self-monitoring-of-blood-pressure-inpregnancy.pdf (accessed 02-04-21)

16. Royal College of Midwives, Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists. Guidance for Antenatal and Postnatal Services in the evolving Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic (Version 3). 2020. Available from: https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/2020-10-21-guidance-for-antenatal-and-postnatal-services-in-the-evolving-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic-v3.pdf (accessed 05/02/21)

17. Royal College of Midwives. Virtual consultations: guidance on appropriate application for virtual consultations and practical tips for effective use (V2.3). 2020. Available from:

https://www.rcm.org.uk/media/4596/virtual-consultations-v23-revised-17-december-2021-review-25-january-2021.pdf (accessed 05/02/21)

18. Sanders J, Blaylock R, WRISK Study Team. Users' experiences of COVID-19 maternity service changes (Version 2). 2020. Available from: <u>https://wrisk.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/WRISK-COVID-Report\_Dec20\_V2.pdf</u> (accessed 05/02/21)

19. Gülmezoglu AM, Ammerdorffer A, Narasimhan M, *et al.* Self-care and remote care during pregnancy: a new paradigm? *Health Research Policy and Systems*. 2020;**18**:107. doi:10.1186/s12961-020-00627-4

20. Royal College of Midwives. Digital Technology in Maternity Care: A Position Statement 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.rcm.org.uk/media/4789/rcm\_position-statement\_digital-technologies\_final.pdf</u> (accessed 16/03/21)

21. The Health Foundation. Securing a Positive Healthcare Technology Legacy from Covid-19. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/securing-a-positive-health-care-technology-legacy-from-covid-19</u> (accessed 08-04-21) 22. World Health Organisation. Classification of Digital Health Interventions v1.0. 2017. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/260480/WHO-RHR-18.06-

eng.pdf;jsessionid=1DA9EAD9506E29BB5E1ED23FB797EF9F?sequence=1 (accessed 16/03/21)

23. Griffiths FE, Armoiry X, Atherton H, *et al.* The role of digital communication in patient-clinician communication for NHS providers of specialist clinical services for young people [the Long-term conditions Young people Networked Communication (LYNC) study]: a mixed-methods study. *Health Services and Delivery Research.* 2018;**6**. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3310/hsdr06090</u>

24. Interdisciplinary Research in Health Sciences (IRIHS). Remote by Default Care in the Covid-19 Pandemic: Addressing the Micro-, Meso- and Macro-level Challenges of a Radical New Service Model. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.phc.ox.ac.uk/research/interdisciplinary-research-in-health-</u>

<u>sciences/remote-by-default-care/remote-by-default-care-in-the-covid-19-pandemic</u> (accessed 08/04/21) 25. Office for National Statistics. Internet Access: Households and Individuals: Great Britain: 2020. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homeinternetandsocialme diausage/bulletins/internetaccesshouseholdsandindividuals/2020 (accessed 10/02/21)

26. Mackintosh N, Agarwal S, Adcock K, *et al.* Online resources and apps to aid self-diagnosis and help seeking in the perinatal period: A descriptive survey of women's experiences. *Midwifery*. 2020;**90**:102803. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2020.102803

27. DeNicola N, Grossman D, Marko K, *et al.* Telehealth Interventions to Improve Obstetric and Gynecologic Health Outcomes: A Systematic Review. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2020;**135**:371-82. doi:10.1097/aog.000000000003646

28. MBRAČE-UK. Saving Lives, Improving Mothers' Care: Lessons learned to inform maternity care from the UK and Ireland Confidential Enquiries into Maternal Deaths and Morbidity 2016-18. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/maternal-report-2020/MBRRACE-UK\_Maternal\_Report\_Dec\_2020\_v10.pdf</u> (accessed 09/02/21)

29. Higginbottom GMA, Evans C, Morgan M, *et al.* Experience of and access to maternity care in the UK by immigrant women: a narrative synthesis systematic review. *BMJ Open.* 2019;**9**:e029478. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029478

30. Rayment-Jones H, Harris J, Harden A, *et al.* How do women with social risk factors experience United Kingdom maternity care? A realist synthesis. *Birth.* 2019;**46**:461-74. doi:10.1111/birt.12446

31. MBRACE-UK. Saving Lives, Improving Mothers' Care Rapid report: Learning from SARS-CoV-2related and associated maternal deaths in the UK. 2020. Available from:

https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-

<u>UK\_Maternal\_Report\_2020\_v10\_FINAL.pdf</u> (accessed 09/02/21)

32. Lindquist A, Kurinczuk JJ, Redshaw M, *et al.* Experiences, utilisation and outcomes of maternity care in England among women from different socio-economic groups: findings from the 2010 National Maternity Survey. *BJOG*. 2015;**122**:1610-7. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.13059

33. Ockenden Report. Emerging Findings and Recommendations from the Independent Review of Maternity Services at the Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital and NHS Trust. 2020. Available from: <a href="https://www.ockendenmaternityreview.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/ockenden-report.pdf">https://www.ockendenmaternityreview.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/ockenden-report.pdf</a> (accessed 11/03/21)

34. Lee Y, Cho S. Technology-Supported Interventions for Pregnant Women: A Systematic Review. *Comput Inform Nurs.* 2019;**37**:501-12. doi:10.1097/cin.00000000000535

35. van den Heuvel JF, Groenhof TK, Veerbeek JH, *et al.* eHealth as the Next-Generation Perinatal Care: An Overview of the Literature. *J Med Internet Res.* 2018;**20**:e202. doi:10.2196/jmir.9262

36. Lavender T, Richens Y, Milan SJ, *et al.* Telephone support for women during pregnancy and the first six weeks postpartum. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2013.

doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009338.pub2

37. Kapinos K, Kotzias V, Bogen D, *et al.* The Use of and Experiences With Telelactation Among Rural Breastfeeding Mothers: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Med Internet Res.* 2019;**21**:e13967. doi:10.2196/13967

38. Habibi MF, Nicklas J, Spence M, *et al.* Remote lactation consultation: a qualitative study of maternal response to experience and recommendations for survey development. *J Hum Lact.* 2012;**28**:211-7. doi:10.1177/0890334411432716

39. Bailey CM, Newton JM, Hall HG. Telephone triage and midwifery: A scoping review. *Women Birth.* 2018;**31**:414-21. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2017.12.002

40. Jeganathan S, Prasannan L, Blitz MJ, *et al.* Adherence and acceptability of telehealth appointments for high-risk obstetrical patients during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM*. 2020;**2**:100233. doi:10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100233

41. Butler Tobah YS, LeBlanc A, Branda ME, *et al.* Randomized comparison of a reduced-visit prenatal care model enhanced with remote monitoring. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2019;**221**:638.e1-38.e8. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2019.06.034

42. Marko KI, Ganju N, Brown J, *et al.* Remote Prenatal Care Monitoring With Digital Health Tools Can Reduce Visit Frequency While Improving Satisfaction. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*. 2016;**127**:1S.

43. Flodgren G, Rachas A, Farmer AJ, *et al.* Interactive telemedicine: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2015.

doi:10.1002/14651858.CD002098.pub2

44. Ignatowicz A, Atherton H, Bernstein CJ, *et al.* Internet videoconferencing for patient-clinician consultations in long-term conditions: A review of reviews and applications in line with guidelines and recommendations. *Digit Health.* 2019;**5**:2055207619845831. doi:10.1177/2055207619845831

45. Kuberska K, Dakin F, Dixon-Woods M, *et al.* Creating an equitable evidence base for quality and safety in remote antenatal care. *Authorea (Pre-Print).* 2021. doi:10.22541/au.160861376.62206303/v1
46. Semaan A, Audet C, Huysmans E, *et al.* Voices from the frontline: findings from a thematic analysis of a rapid online global survey of maternal and newborn health professionals facing the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMJ Glob Health.* 2020;**5**. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002967

47. Wilson CA, Dalton-Locke C, Johnson S, *et al.* Challenges and opportunities of the COVID-19 pandemic for perinatal mental health care: a mixed methods study of mental health care staff. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.09.23.20199927. doi:10.1101/2020.09.23.20199927

48. Galle A, Semaan A, Huysmans E, *et al.* A double-edged sword-telemedicine for maternal care during COVID-19: findings from a global mixed-methods study of healthcare providers. *BMJ Glob Health.* 2021;**6**. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2020-004575

49. Penny RA, Bradford NK, Langbecker D. Registered nurse and midwife experiences of using videoconferencing in practice: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *J Clin Nurs*. 2018;**27**:e739-e52. doi:10.1111/jocn.14175

50. Spiby H, Faucher MA, Sands G, *et al.* A qualitative study of midwives' perceptions on using video-calling in early labor. *Birth.* 2019;**46**:105-12. doi:10.1111/birt.12364

51. Brown Wilson C, Slade C, Wong WYA, *et al.* Health care students experience of using digital technology in patient care: A scoping review of the literature. *Nurse Education Today.* 2020;**95**:104580. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104580</u>

52. Karavadra B, Stockl A, Prosser-Snelling E, *et al.* Women's perceptions of COVID-19 and their healthcare experiences: a qualitative thematic analysis of a national survey of pregnant women in the United Kingdom. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth.* 2020;**20**:600. doi:10.1186/s12884-020-03283-2

53. Madden N, Emeruwa UN, Friedman AM, *et al.* Telehealth Uptake into Prenatal Care and Provider Attitudes during the COVID-19 Pandemic in New York City: A Quantitative and Qualitative Analysis. *Am J Perinatol.* 2020;**37**:1005-14. doi:10.1055/s-0040-1712939

54. Fryer K, Delgado A, Foti T, *et al.* Implementation of Obstetric Telehealth During COVID-19 and Beyond. *Matern Child Health J.* 2020;**24**:1104-10. doi:10.1007/s10995-020-02967-7

55. Bauer MS, Damschroder L, Hagedorn H, *et al.* An introduction to implementation science for the non-specialist. *BMC Psychology*. 2015;**3**:32. doi:10.1186/s40359-015-0089-9

56. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, *et al.* Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ*. 2008;**337**:a1655. doi:10.1136/bmj.a1655

57. Greenhalgh T, Shaw S, Wherton J, *et al.* Real-World Implementation of Video Outpatient Consultations at Macro, Meso, and Micro Levels: Mixed-Method Study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 2018;**20**:e150-e50. doi:10.2196/jmir.9897

58. Bilodeau A, Potvin L. Unpacking complexity in public health interventions with the Actor-Network Theory. *Health Promot Int.* 2018;**33**:173-81. doi:10.1093/heapro/daw062

59. May C, Finch T, Mair F, *et al.* Understanding the implementation of complex interventions in health care: the normalization process model. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2007;**7**:148. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-7-148

60. Greenhalgh T, Abimbola S. The NASSS Framework - A Synthesis of Multiple Theories of Technology Implementation. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 2019;**263**:193-204. doi:10.3233/shti190123

Vassilev I, Rowsell A, Pope C, *et al.* Assessing the implementability of telehealth interventions for self-management support: a realist review. *Implement Sci.* 2015;**10**:59. doi:10.1186/s13012-015-0238-9
 Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, *et al.* Beyond Adoption: A New Framework for Theorizing and Evaluating Nonadoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies. *J Med Internet Res.* 2017;**19**:e367. doi:10.2196/jmir.8775

63. Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, *et al.* Analysing the role of complexity in explaining the fortunes of technology programmes: empirical application of the NASSS framework. *BMC Med.* 2018;**16**:66. doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1050-6

64. Pawson R, Greenhalgh T, Harvey G, *et al.* Realist review--a new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. *J Health Serv Res Policy*. 2005;**10 Suppl 1**:21-34. doi:10.1258/1355819054308530

65. Pawson R. Evidence Based Policy: A Realist Perspective. London: Sage; 2006.

66. Bhaskar R. A Realist Theory of Science. Leeds: Leeds Books; 2008.

67. Archer M. Realist Social Theory: The Morphogenic Approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1995.

68. Emmel N, Manzano A, Dalkin S, et al. Doing Realist Research. London: Sage 2018.

69. Pawson R, Tilley N. Realistic Evaluation. London: Sage; 1997.

70. Rycroft-Malone J, McCormack B, Hutchinson AM, *et al.* Realist synthesis: illustrating the method for implementation research. *Implementation Science*. 2012;**7**:33. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-7-33

71. Dalkin SM, Greenhalgh J, Jones D, *et al.* What's in a mechanism? Development of a key concept in realist evaluation. *Implementation Science*. 2015;**10**:49. doi:10.1186/s13012-015-0237-x

72. Shaw J, Gray CS, Baker GR, *et al.* Mechanisms, contexts and points of contention: operationalizing realist-informed research for complex health interventions. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 2018;**18**:178. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0641-4

73. Wong G, Westthorp G, Pawson R, *et al.* Realist Synthesis: RAMESES Training Materials. 2013. Available from: <u>https://www.ramesesproject.org/media/Realist\_reviews\_training\_materials.pdf</u> (accessed 02-02-21)

74. Wong G, Greenhalgh T, Westhorp G, *et al.* RAMESES publication standards: realist syntheses. *BMC Medicine*. 2013;**11**:21. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-21

75. NIHR. UK Standards for Public Involvement in Research. Available from:

https://sites.google.com/nihr.ac.uk/pi-standards/home?authuser=0 (accessed 21-09-21)

76. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Simera I, *et al.* GRIPP2 reporting checklists: tools to improve reporting of patient and public involvement in research. *BMJ*. 2017;**358**:j3453. doi:10.1136/bmj.j3453

77. Evans K, Janiszewski H, Evans C, *et al.* Establishing information needs and research priorities in response to the Covid-19 pandemic in the local maternity setting. *Midwifery*. 2021;**95**:102922. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2021.102922

78. Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, *et al.* Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 2013;**13**:117. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-117

79. Booth A, Wright J, Briscoe S. Scoping and searching to support realist approaches In: Emmel N, Greenhalgh J, Manzano A*et al*, editors. Doing Realist Research. London: Sage Publications; 2018. p. 147-66. (accessed

80. Booth A, Briscoe S, Wright JM. The "realist search": A systematic scoping review of current practice and reporting. *Res Synth Methods*. 2020;**11**:14-35. doi:10.1002/jrsm.1386

81. Booth A, Harris J, Croot E, *et al.* Towards a methodology for cluster searching to provide conceptual and contextual "richness" for systematic reviews of complex interventions: case study (CLUSTER). *BMC Med Res Methodol.* 2013;**13**:118. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-118

82. Williams L, Rycroft-Malone J, Burton CR, *et al.* Improving skills and care standards in the support workforce for older people: a realist synthesis of workforce development interventions. *BMJ Open.* 2016;**6**:e011964. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011964

83. Popay J, Rogers A, Williams G. Rationale and standards for the systematic review of qualitative literature in health services research. *Qual Health Res.* 1998;8:341-51. doi:10.1177/104973239800800305
84. Pawson R. Digging for nuggets: how 'bad' research can yield 'good' evidence. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*. 2006;9:127-42.

85. May C. Towards a general theory of implementation. *Implementation Science*. 2013;**8**:18. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-8-18

86. Chambers DA, Glasgow RE, Stange KC. The dynamic sustainability framework: addressing the paradox of sustainment amid ongoing change. *Implementation Science*. 2013;**8**:117. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-8-117

87. Saul JE, Willis CD, Bitz J, *et al.* A time-responsive tool for informing policy making: rapid realist review. *Implementation Science*. 2013;**8**:103. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-8-103

88. Elliott JH, Synnot A, Turner T, *et al.* Living systematic review: 1. Introduction-the why, what, when, and how. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2017;**91**:23-30. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.08.010

### **APPENDIX 1: PROJECT FLOWCHART**

